Case No. 81390

In the Supreme Court of Nevada

TRUDI LEE LYTLE; and JOHN ALLEN LYTLE, as trustees of the Lytle Trust,

Appellants,

vs.

SEPTEMBER TRUST, DATED MARCH 23, 1972; GERRY R. ZOBRIST AND JOLIN G. ZOBRIST, as trustees of the GERRY R. ZOBRIST AND JOLIN G. ZOBRIST FAMILY TRUST; RAYNALDO G. SANDOVAL AND JULIE MARIE SANDOVAL GEGEN, as Trustees of the RAYNALDO G. AND EVELYN A. SANDOVAL JOINT LIVING AND DEVOLUTION TRUST DATED MAY 27, 1992; DENNIS A. GEGEN AND JULIE S. GEGEN, Husband and wife, as joint tenants; ROBERT Z. DISMAN; and YVONNE A. DISMAN, Electronically Filed Mar 15 2021 11:56 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Respondents.

Appeal

JURISDICTION

Trudi Lee Lytle and John Allen Lytle, as trustees of The Lytle Trust ("Lytles" or "the Lytle Trust"), appeal from an order holding the trust in contempt for purportedly violating a May 2018 injunction order, and awarding respondents penalties and expenses. (7 App. 1562.) Notice of entry of the contempt order was served on May 22, 2020, and the Lytle Trust timely appealed on Monday, June 22, 2020. (6 App. 1470.) Appellants then amended the appeal on July 31, 2020, to include an order ruling on a subsequent motion for clarification that was entered on July 15, 2020. (7 App. 1562.)

Appellants recognize that simple contempt orders generally are not appealable and instead must be contested via writ petition. *Pengilly v. Rancho Santa Fe Homeowners Ass'n*, 116 Nev. 646, 649, 5 P.3d 569, 571 (2000). An appeal will lie from a contempt order, however, if it "affect[s] the rights of some party to the action, growing out of the judgment previously entered." *See Gumm v. Mainor*, 118 Nev. 912, 920, 59 P.3d 1220, 1225 (2002) (citing NRAP 3A(b)(8)); *Vaile* v. Vaile, 133 Nev. 213, 217, 396 P.3d 791, 794-95 (2017) ("if the contempt finding or sanction is included in an order that is otherwise independently appealable, this court has jurisdiction to hear the contempt challenge on appeal"); c.f., Detwiler v. Baker Boyer Nat'l Bank, 2020 WL 2214148, *2, 462 P.3d 254 (Nev. 2020) (contempt order was not appealable because it "[did] not affect the judgment rights or liabilities of a party to the action"); Saiter v. Saiter, 2018 WL 2096288, 416 P.3d 1056 (2018) (dismissing appeal from order of contempt where appellant "d[id] not demonstrate that the order affect[ed] his rights arising from the final judgment (the divorce decree)").

Here, appellants contend the subject contempt order effectively amends the May 2018 injunction order to expand significantly the scope of activity enjoined and add a beneficiary. If this Court agrees with appellants' assessment,¹ the subject contempt order is appealable,

¹ In assessing appellate jurisdiction, this Court frequently looks beyond labels and examines the gravamen and effect of subject orders and other operative documents. For example, in *Gumm v. Mainor*, the Court permitted an appeal from a post-judgment order that, on its face, merely "distributed funds" because it substantively "affected plaintiff's right to distribution of judgment proceeds." *Id.* Regardless of the appealed order's title, this Court reasoned that "the order [was] analogous to orders adjudicating attorney liens and awarding attorney fees and costs," which are appealable. *Id.*, 118 Nev. at 919, 59 P.3d at 1225. Similarly, the Court has examined the contents of post-judgment motions to determine whether to deem them tolling "regardless of label." *See AA Primo Builders, LLC v. Washington*, 126 Nev. 578, 585,

either as "a special order" entered after the final May 2018 injunction order, pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(8), or as an order granting new injunctive relief, pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(3).² Determination of

245 P.3d 1190, 1195 (2010).

²The Lytle Trust is prepared to contest the subject order holding them in contempt via writ petition if necessary. Where an order may be appealable, prudence calls for the aggrieved party to initiate an appeal. If appellants were to forego an appeal from the underlying order because it ostensibly is a simple contempt order and file a writ petition instead, and this Court were to determine the order is substantively appealable, this Court likely would deny the writ petition on the basis that the order is appealable. See Pan v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 120 Nev. 222, 224, 88 P.3d 840, 841 (2004) (applying NRS 34.170). In that event, it would be too late to pursue an appeal. Rust v. Clark Cty. Sch. Dist., 103 Nev. 686, 688, 747 P.2d 1380, 1382 (1987) ("the proper and timely filing of a notice of appeal is jurisdictional"). On the other hand, a petition for extraordinary relief is not subject to a jurisdictional deadline although the doctrine of laches applies. Moseley v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct., 124 Nev. 654, 659 n. 6, 188 P.3d 1136, 1140 n. 6 (2008) (concluding laches did not bar consideration of a writ petition filed four months after contested order); Widdis v. Second Jud. Dist. Ct., 114 Nev. 1224, 1227–28, 968 P.2d 1165, 1167 (1998) (concluding that laches did not bar consideration of a writ petition filed seven months after the district court entered its written order).

Were the contempt order to be deemed appealable, appellants also would risk it having issue-preclusive effect by foregoing any appeal. *See Five Star Capital Corp. v. Ruby*, 124 Nev. 1048, 1055, 194 P.3d 709, 713 (2008), holding modified by *Weddell v. Sharp*, 131 Nev. 233, 350 P.3d 80 (2015) ("the following factors are necessary for application of issue preclusion: "(1) the issue decided in the prior litigation must be identical to the issue presented in the current action; (2) the initial ruling must have been on the merits and have become final; ... (3) the party against whom the judgment is asserted must have been a party or in privity appellate jurisdiction, therefore, is intertwined with the merits of this appeal, as the Court observed previously in denying respondents' motion to dismiss. (Doc. no. 21-00620.)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17(b)(7), but appellants contend that the Supreme Court should retain the case due to its institutional familiarity with the issues and several related cases involving these parties.

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Where a judgment was entered against a nonprofit corporate entity—here a common-interest community—and the judgment creditor was enjoined from enforcing the judgment "directly" against the corporation's members (*i.e.*, the property owners) because they are "not parties" to the judgment, should that injunction be construed to preclude enforcement even against the judgment-debtor corporation, including seeking the appointment of a receiver over the judgment-

with a party to the prior litigation"; and (4) the issue was actually and necessarily litigated").

debtor corporation, simply because it may lead the judgment-debtor corporation to seek funds from its members to satisfy the judgment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal an order holding appellants in contempt of court for allegedly violating an injunction, entered on May 22, 2020 by THE HONORABLE TIMOTHY WILLIAMS. Appellants maintain the district court substantively expanded the scope of the activity enjoined by the injunction order and then determined that appellants had violated it *ex post facto*. The district court's order also expands the scope of activity enjoined prospectively.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant-Appellants TRUDI LEE LYTLE and JOHN ALLEN LYTLE, as trustees of THE LYTLE TRUST ("Lytles" or "the Lytle Trust") own a lot in a residential subdivision governed by the nonprofit corporation ROSEMERE ESTATES PROPERTY OWNERS ASSOCIATION (the "Rosemere Association" or "Association"). The Association consists of nine lot owners. Plaintiff-respondents are four other property owners who also are members of the Association ("Property Owners").³

³ The plaintiff-respondents are (1) SEPTEMBER TRUST, DATED MARCH 23, 1972; (2) GERRY R. ZOBRIST and JOLIN G. ZOBRIST, as trustees of the GERRY R. ZOBRIST AND JOLIN G. ZOBRIST FAMILY TRUST; (3) RAYNALDO G.

The Lytle Trust Procures Judgments Against the Rosemere Association

Through the Association, the Lytles' neighboring property owners waged vicious battles with them for more than a decade ("Rosemere Litigation"), resulting in entry of three judgments in favor of the Lytle Trust against the Association ("Rosemere Judgments"), which have a current combined balance of more than \$1.8 million. (1 App. 206, 3 App. 540, 3 App. 550.) The Association's actions against them was so outrageous that the Lytle Trust's judgments include a punitive damage award in excess of \$800,000. (3 App. 512.)

These judgments, the last of which was entered in 2017, have never been reversed or otherwise invalidated.

SANDOVAL and JULIE MARIE SANDOVAL GEGEN, as Trustees of the RAYNALDO G. AND EVELYN A. SANDOVAL JOINT LIVING AND DEVOLUTION TRUST DATED MAY 27, 1992; and (4) DENNIS A. GEGEN and JULIE S. GEGEN.

The Lytle Trust is Enjoined from Enforcing the Judgments "Directly" Against the Association's Members

Although its judgments were against the "Rosemere Estates Property Owners Association," the Lytle Trust recorded abstracts of the judgment directly against all properties in the association aside from their own. (1 App. 206.) In various suits, consolidated in front of Judge Timothy C. Williams, some of the property owners sued the Lytle Trust seeking declaratory and injunctive relief to restrain the Lytle Trust from foreclosing on their properties, and to strike the abstracts of judgment clouding their titles. (4 App. 896.) The district court granted that relief in multiple orders, which were appealed and affirmed. (*See* Case nos. 73039 and 76198.) The district court also awarded fees to the various property owners arising from the injunction actions, which orders also were appealed and affirmed.⁴ (Case nos. 77007 and 79753.)

The basis for the district court's permanent injunction in favor of the respondent Property Owners, entered on May 24, 2018 ("May 2018

⁴ The district court recently entered an award of fees to these respondent Property Owners, which is the subject of another pending appeal, case no. 81689.

Order"), was twofold. First, the respondents were "not parties" in the Rosemere Litigation. (3 App. 709:1-4.) The judgment debtor is the Association, not the respondent Property Owners. (3 App. 710:5-9.) Second, the court concluded that the Association is not the kind of homeowners' association (common-interest community) that is subject to NRS 116.3117, which allows judgment creditors of an association to record abstracts of judgments directly against all association homeowners' properties. (3 App. 709:20-24.) In other words, NRS 116.3117's *exception to the general rule* that judgment creditors cannot execute against non-parties (outside the strictures of court-sanctioned collection procedures such as garnishment, *etc.*), did not apply.

Accordingly, the district court's May 2018 Order permanently enjoined the Lytle Trust from recording or enforcing its judgments directly against the non-party Property Owners:

> IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the Lytle Trust is permanently enjoined from recording and enforcing the Judgments obtained from the Rosemere Litigation I, Rosemere Litigation II and Rosemere Litigation III, or any other judgments obtained against the Association, against the September Property, Zobrist Property, Sandoval Property or Gegen Property.

> > 4

IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the Lytle Trust is permanently enjoined from taking *any action* in the future *directly* against the Plaintiffs or their properties upon the Rosemere Litigation I, Rosemere Litigation II, or Rosemere Litigation III.

(3 App. 712:10 (emphasis added).)

The district court never enjoined the Lytle Trust from enforcing its judgments against the judgment-debtor Association or otherwise restricted its right to collect the judgments lawfully. (*Id.*) Indeed, the Association is not even a party below. Nor, importantly, did the district court alleviate the respondent Property Owners of any duties they might owe *to the Association* to enable the Association to satisfy *its* debts under ordinary corporate, contract or statutory principles. (*Id.*)

This Court affirmed the district court's permanent injunction—as well as injunctions entered on behalf of other similarly situated Rosemere property owners—on the grounds that Property Owners were not parties to the Rosemere Judgments and that NRS 116.3117 does not apply to this association.⁵

 $^{^{5}}$ As this Court articulated the basis for the injunctive relief and affirmance:

^{...} under the plain language of Chapter 116, limited purpose

Executing Against the Defunct Association, the Lytle Trust Petitions for Appointment of a Receiver

After the district court permanently enjoined the Lytle Trust from enforcing the judgments directly against the non-party Property Owners—chiding them for disregarding the Association's corporate form and status as an independent entity—the Lytle Trust focused its collection efforts on the actual judgment-debtor Association. Because the Association's officers had resigned and allowed the Association to become defunct after the Lytle Trust obtained their judgments,⁶ the Lytle Trust commenced an action for appointment of a receiver to,

association are not subject to Chapter 116 outside of certain express statutory exceptions, and ... NRS 116.3117 is not among those exceptions . . . [nor does] other Nevada law . . . allow them to record abstracts of judgment against homeowners who were not parties to the litigation against Rosemere and whose properties were not the subject of any lawsuit.

See March 2, 2020 "Order of Affirmance," Doc. # 20-08333, at 3-4 (4 App. 836-37).

⁶ The Association funded its litigation expenses against the Lytle Trust through assessments imposed against and personal loans borrowed from the homeowners. (4 App. 846.) However, when the judgments started rolling-in in favor of the Lytle Trust against the Association, the board members (some of these very Plaintiffs-Respondents) resigned and rendered the Association defunct, failing to renew its status with the Nevada Real Estate Division or the Nevada Secretary of State. (4 App. 846.)

among other things, satisfy the judgments: *Trudi Lee Lytle and John Allen Lytle, as Trustees of the Lytle Trust v. Rosemere Estates Property Owners' Association*, Eighth Judicial District Court, case no. A-18-775843-C, pending before THE HONORABLE JOANNA S. KISHNER ("receivership action").

To ensure the receiver would be empowered to act on behalf of the Association with whatever authority a duly appointed executive of the Association otherwise would have, the petition moved the district court to authorize the receiver with broad powers. (4 App. 816.) The Lytle Trust envisioned that such powers might even include the Association issuing assessments to satisfy its debts and judgment obligations, as well as placing liens on properties of Association members who did not pay any lawful assessments. (*See* 4 App. 820.) The Lytles were aware of the Association having done so in the past. (4 App. 864-69.)

The Property Owners Claim the Lytle Trust Violated the May 2018 Order and Seek to Have them Held in Contempt

Respondent Property Owners reacted to the receivership action by reopening this case, in which Judge Williams had issued the May 2018 Order, and moving Judge Williams to hold the Lytle Trust in contempt of court for violating it. (3 App. 736.) Although the receiver was appointed over the judgment-debtor Association, to facilitate payment of the Association's debt, the Property Owners argued the receivership petition violated the May 2018 Order *indirectly* because it would lead the Association to exercise its power to issue assessments to the Property Owners. (3 App. 742.)

The Lytle Trust opposed the motion, raising several points. (4 App. 845.) It is commonplace to appoint receivers over non-paying judgment debtors. (5 App. 1120, 1122) The Lytle Trust's effort to enforce the judgment against the Association was correct for the same reason its previous liens directly against the Property Owners had been misguided; the Association is the judgment debtor and an independent corporate entity separate and distinct from its property owner members. (5 App. 1121.) The May 2018 Order did not enjoin the Lytle Trust from lawfully enforcing its judgments against the judgmentdebtor Association.⁷ (3 App. 711-12.) And the Property Owners were

⁷ The district court (Honorable Timothy C. Williams) did not issue any of the Lytle Trust's Rosemere Judgments against the Association, and the Association was not a party before Judge Williams.

not somehow immunized from consequences of their Association gathering funds to pay its debt merely because the Lytle Trust had been enjoined from *going around* the Association to lien their properties directly. (5 App. 1125.)

The Court Holds the Lytle Trust in Contempt for Violating the May 2018 Order "Indirectly"

The district court agreed with the Property Owners. (6 App. 1440.) The court did not dispute the legitimacy of the Lytle Trust's judgments against the Association, which are not stayed. (7 App. 1552.) Nor did the court address merits of whether this limited-purpose homeowners' association, a nonprofit corporation, would be within its rights to levy assessments to satisfy judgments against it. (7 App. 1559.)

The court's analysis was simple and straightforward. The court reasoned that "[t]he May 2018 Order's permanent injunction clearly precluded the Lytle Trust from doing *anything* as it *relates to* enforcing and recording the Rosemere Judgments against the [Property Owners⁸]

⁸ Any conclusion in the Contempt Order that the 2018 Order involved the nominal-respondent Dismans is clear error. The Dismans bought their home from the Boulden Trust after the district court entered its 2017 Order, which is not at issue in this appeal (i.e., the Contempt

or their properties." (6 App. 1449:24-26] (emphasis added)). The court concluded "the Lytle Trust has no judgment creditor rights to try to collect the Rosemere Judgments from the Plaintiffs or Dismans in *any way, shape, or form.*" (*Id.* at 6 App. 1449:26-27].) As the court further explained in ruling on a motion for clarification, "any" action means "direct or *indirect.*" (7 App. 1557:26].) Thus, even a collection effort against the judgment-debtor Association that "*results in* payment of the Judgments by the Plaintiffs" violates the May 2018 Order. (5 App. 709:10-11 (emphasis added).)

This appeal followed.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court abused its discretion by holding the Lytle Trust in contempt for violation of the May 2018 Order. The judgment-creditor

Order does not find a violation of the 2017 Order). Neither the Boulden Trust nor the Dismans are mentioned in the 2018 Order's permanent injunction. Thus, while, *arguendo*, the Dismans stepped into the shoes of the Boulden Trust as it relates to the 2017 Order, the Dismans are not beneficiaries of the 2018 Order's permanent injunction. Indeed, the Dismans have no standing here because the Contempt Order specifically found a violation of only the 2018 Order. (6 App. 1451:5-8; *see also*, 7 App. 1557:19-20 ("[t]he Court did not hold the Lytle Trust in contempt for violating the April 2017 Order")).

Lytle Trust had a right to seek appointment of a receiver over the nonpaying, corporate debtor. The May 2018 Order had enjoined the Lytle Trust from executing their judgments "directly" against the respondent Property Owners only because they were not parties to the lawsuit between the Lytle Trust and the Association, and the statutory (NRS 116.3117) exception to the rule that judgment liens cannot be recorded against non-party property owners did not apply.⁹ Now, the court effectively has expanded the May 2018 order to enjoin the Lytle Trust from collecting the judgments even against the Association if that may lead the Association to exercise whatever rights it may have under the law and relevant agreements to procure funds from the respondent Property Owners, as that would constitute collecting the judgment from them "indirectly."¹⁰ This improperly disregarded the separate identity between the Association and its members. Forbidding the Lytle Trust from exercising its judgment-creditor right to seek a receiver to enforce the judgment against the judgment-debtor Association was neither

⁹ While the Lytle Trust disagrees with that order and appealed from it, it is law of the case.

¹⁰ The association is not a party to this action.

expressly included in the May 2018 Order nor reasonably implied. Thus, the district court abused its discretion by attempting to expand the scope of activity enjoined nunc pro tunc and then deeming the Lytle Trust to have violated it ex post facto.

Beyond the impropriety of holding the Lytle Trust in contempt for an expanded order ex post facto, the Lytle Trust also is concerned about the prospective import of the underlying contempt order and the subsequent order on the Lytle Trust's motion for clarification, which could be deemed to operate as an injunction on the Lytle Trust from enforcing its judgment at all against the Association. To the extent the contempt order can be construed to enjoin such activity, the district court both abused its discretion and erred as a matter of law.¹¹ The district court performed no substantive analysis regarding whether this Association, whether by officers or a receiver acting in their shoes, could

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