#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TRUDI LEE LYTLE and JOHN ALLEN LYTLE, as trustees of THE LYTLE TRUST,

Appellants,

VS.

SEPTEMBER TRUST, DATED MARCH 23, 1972; GERRY R. ZOBRIST AND JOLIN G. ZOBRIST, as trustees of THE GERRY R. ZOBRIST AND JOLIN G. ZOBRIST FAMILY TRUST; RAYNALDO G. SANDOVAL AND JULIE MARIE SANDOVAL GEGEN, as trustees of THE RAYNALDO G. AND EVELYN A. SANDOVAL JOINT LIVING AND DEVOLUTION TRUST DATED MAY 27, 1992; and DENNIS A. GEGEN AND JULIE S. GEGEN, husband and wife, as joint tenants,

Respondents.

No Electronically Filed May 14 2021 03:29 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

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

Clarification. 6 App. 1440-1452; 7 App. 1552-1559. The district court also provided substantial explanation during the contempt hearings. 6 App. 1331-1398; 7 App. 1518-1548. The Lytle Trust's fundamental disagreement with the Injunction Orders and the district court's interpretation thereof does not mean that the district court expanded or modified the Injunction Orders when it held the Lytle Trust in contempt. The district court's reading, interpretation, and application of the Injunction Orders was reasonable and this Court should defer to the findings and conclusions reached by the district court.

#### C. The district court was bound to follow the law of the case.

Pursuant to the law of the case doctrine, "[w]hen an appellate court states a principle or rule of law necessary to a decision, the principle or rule becomes the law of the case and must be followed throughout its subsequent progress, both in the lower court and upon subsequent appeal." *Wickliffe v. Sunrise Hosp.*, 104 Nev. 777, 780, 766 P.2d 1322, 1324 (1988). This doctrine "is designed to ensure judicial consistency and to prevent the reconsideration, during the course of a single continuous lawsuit, of those decisions which are intended to put a particular matter to rest." *U.S. v. Real Prop. Located at Incline Vill.*, 976 F.Supp. 1327, 1353 (D. Nev. 1997).

The Lytle Trust concedes that the May 2018 Order "is law of the case." Appellant's Br. 11 n.9. The district court acknowledged at two different hearings that the court was bound by law of the case and could not change its prior decisions. For instance, the district court explained:

So why would you attempt to collect a debt owed -- allegedly owed by the plaintiffs when I have ruled as a matter of law that, quote, the final judgment against the Association is not an obligation or debt owed by plaintiffs. I mean that's pretty clear to me. And understand this: I can't change that right now.... And so at the end of the day, this is what I ruled as a matter of law in this case, and I don't know how it can be any clearer than this.

7 App. 1538:13-20 (emphasis added); *see also* 6 App. 1394:22-1395:1 ("There is an appellate history to this case, and so when it comes to Plaintiff's Motion for an Order to Show Cause..., I'm going to grant the motion."). The court expressly acknowledged the Orders of Affirmance in the Contempt Order. 6 App. 1494:15-18; 6 App. 1496:1-6; 6 App. 1498:12-16. Then in denying the Lytle Trust's Motion for Clarification, the district court explained:

- 14. All of the Court's decisions in this case, including the May 2018 Order and the Contempt Order, are based upon the history of this case, and more specifically, the...April 2017 Order...against the Lytle Trust.
- 15. The April 2017 Order has been the ruling of this Court for over three years, was subject to review by the Nevada Supreme Court, and withstood appellate scrutiny.
- 16. The May 2018 Order referenced the April 2017 Order and borrowed its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.
- 17. The April 2017 Order states clearly what actions can and cannot be taken by the Lytle Trust, as follows:
- 18. IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the Defendants are permanently enjoined from taking any action in the future against the Plaintiffs or their properties based upon the Rosemere LPA Litigation.

### 7 App. 1556:6-14 (emphasis added).

The law of the case doctrine prevents the Lytle Trust from relitigating the Injunction Orders, which restrained the Lytle Trust from exercising certain

execution remedies against the Respondents and their properties or from enforcing the Rosemere Judgments in a way that would impact the Respondents or their properties. The district court was not free to enter a contrary ruling (nor was the Lytle Trust free to even seek a contrary ruling) because the Injunction Orders have been affirmed by this Court.

Under the law of the case doctrine, the district court could not permit actions which would result in the Respondents paying the Rosemere Judgments, because the Injunction Orders clearly and unequivocally stated that the "Rosemere Judgments...are not against, and are not an obligation of the [Respondents] to the Lytle Trust. [The] Rosemere Judgments...are not an obligation or debt owed by the [Respondents] to the Lytle Trust." 3 App. 710:1-9.

In the same way, the district court was not free to allow the Lytle Trust to take any action seeking assessment under the Amended CC&Rs because the Injunction Orders clearly and unequivocally stated that the "Amended CC&Rs are invalid and have no force and effect and were declared *void ab initio*." 3 App. 709:25-27.

The district court could not allow assessment under NRS 116 because the Injunction Orders clearly and unequivocally stated that the "Association is a 'limited purpose association' as referenced in NRS 116.1201(2)." 3 App. 709:20-24. As such, there is no statutory special assessment power to pay judgments that is granted to limited purpose associations under NRS 116.1201(2).

Finally, the district court could not allow the Lytle Trust's actions seeking a receiver to assess Respondents and their properties to pay the Rosemere Judgments

because the Injunction Orders clearly and unequivocally prohibited the Lytle Trust from "enforcing the Judgments...against the [Respondents' properties]" or "taking any action in the future directly against the [Respondents] or their properties based upon the Rosemere [Judgments]." 3 App. 712:10-19.

The district court explained that "[t]he Court made its intentions clear at the April 22, 2020 hearing when it stated 'I stripped the Lytle Trust of their ability and right to enforce those judgments *vis-a-vis* the homeowners in this case." 7 App. 1557:5-7. The court explained further in its Order:

- 5. The thrust and focus of all the Court's decisions in this matter are based upon the history of this case, including the April 2017 Order entered 3 years ago.
- 6. The April 2017 Order stating Defendants are permanently enjoined from taking "any action" in the future against the Plaintiffs or their properties based upon the Rosemere LPA Litigation was also clear.
- 7. The broad and the plain meaning of the term "any action" means any action, whether direct or indirect.
- 8. The April 2017 Order must be looked at in its entirety to determine its thrust, scope and impact with respect to what kind of action can be taken by the Lytle Trust with regard to collecting on its Judgments against the Association.
- 9. The April 2017 Order made clear that the Rosemere Judgments are not against the Plaintiffs or an obligation or debt owed by the Plaintiffs.
- 10. The April 2017 Order also made clear that the Lytle Trust cannot take any action against the Plaintiffs to attempt to collect its Judgments against the Association.
- 11. The May 2018 Order contains nearly identical Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Orders.

12. Therefore, any action by the Lytle Trust to collect its Judgments against the Association that results in payment of the Judgments by the Plaintiffs is a violation of the May 2018 Order.

7 App. 1557:21-1558:11.

In summary, the May 2018 Order clearly precluded any action against the Respondents or their properties related to the Rosemere Judgments. A special assessment here would be an action against the Respondents' properties. See In re Foster, 435 B.R. 650, 662 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2010) (discussing how association assessments run with the land), abrogated on other grounds by Goudelock v. Sixty-01 Ass'n of Apartment Owners, 895 F.3d 633 (9th Cir. 2018) (distinguishing in rem actions from in personam obligations expressly granted by the CC&Rs). The May 2018 Order does preclude action by the Association vis-à-vis the property owners to pay the Rosemere Judgments because it expressly forbade enforcement of the Rosemere Judgment against the properties. Cf. Appellant's Br. 24. The Lytle Trust, fully aware of the Injunction Orders, commenced the Receiver Action. failed to advise the judge overseeing the Receiver Action of the existence of the Injunction Orders, and sought to cause the Association, through a receiver, to assess the Respondents' properties to pay the Rosemere Judgments. On these facts, the district court had no choice but to enforce its orders and hold the Lytle Trust in contempt for violating the Injunction Orders.

The district court did what was required by the law of the case to give effect to its prior orders and this Court's Orders of Affirmance. Any action taken by the Lytle Trust must comply with those orders, including actions taken against the Association. As a matter of law, the district court was not free to let the Lytle Trust

collect the Rosemere Judgments from the property owners or allow special assessment in contravention of the original CC&Rs and NRS 116.1201.

# 1. The law of the case applies to the May 2018 Order both explicitly and by necessary implication.

The law of the case doctrine applies to issues decided explicitly or by necessary implication to the court's prior ruling. *Recontrust Co. v. Zhang*, 130 Nev. 1, 7-8, 317 P.3d 814, 818 (2014); *Hanna Boys Ctr. v. Miller*, 853 F.2d 682, 687 (9th Cir. 1988) (*citing Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. E.E.O.C.*, 691 F.2d 438, 441 (9th Cir. 1982)); *see Sidney v. Zah*, 718 F.2d 1453, 1458 (9th Cir. 1983). The law of the case operates to preclude reconsideration of issues on remand, even if the issues were not explicitly discussed, if the appellate order necessarily or implicitly resolved them adversely to the party now seeking to reargue them. *Lehrman v. Gulf Oil Corp.*, 500 F.2d 659, 664–65 (5th Cir. 1974) (emphasis added). "The law of the case doctrine, therefore, serves important policy considerations, including judicial consistency, finality, and protection of the court's integrity." *Hsu*, 123 Nev. at 629, 173 P.3d at 728 (citations omitted).

In *Mack-Manley*, an initial custody order stated: "Neither party shall do anything which may estrange the children from the other parent or impair the natural development of the children's love and respect for the other parent." 122 Nev. at 858-859, 138 P.3d at 532. That language did not expressly prohibit one parent from making bad faith allegations to authorities that the other had abused or neglected the children. *Id.* However, the Court had no trouble affirming the district court's decision to hold the mother in contempt for doing just that. *Id.* 

A similar situation is presented here. The Lytle Trust argues that the plain language of the May 2018 Order does not preclude collection from the Association or seeking a receiver. Respondents concede both points. The Injunction Orders do not expressly prohibit the Lytle Trust from execution on the Association's assets (something the Lytle Trust has already done). Additionally, the May 2018 Order does not prohibit the appointment of a receiver. This makes sense because the Association was not a party in the action below and the Lytle Trust did not file an action to seek appointment of a receiver until two weeks after the May 2018 Order was entered. The district court cannot be faulted for not seeing the future.

What the Injunction Orders expressly disallow is "any action" by the Lytle Trust to enforce the Rosemere Judgments against the property owners or their properties or to obtain payment from the property owners for the Rosemere Judgments. 1 App. 10:23-11:3; 3 App. 712:10-19. This injunction, coupled with the clear conclusions that: the property owners are not liable for and have no obligation to pay the Rosemere Judgments (1 App. 8:27-9:7; 3 App. 710:1-9); the Association is a limited purpose association under NRS 116.1201(2) (1 App. 7:17-19; 3 App. 709:20-21); and the Amended CC&Rs are *void ab initio* (1 App. 8:23-26; 3 App. 709:24-27), clearly prohibit any action against the Association that would result in payment of the Rosemere Judgments by the Respondents or a receiver making assessments against the Respondents' properties to pay the Rosemere Judgments.

Quite simply, just because the Injunction Orders did not expressly address the exact actions that the Lytle Trust devised in an effort to circumvent them does

not mean that the Injunction Orders were ambiguous or that they do not prohibit those actions by necessary implication. The intent of the Injunction Orders was clear. The Injunction Orders imposed an affirmative duty on the Lytle Trust to cease efforts to collect the Rosemere Judgments from the Respondents or their properties. The Lytle Trust was simply undeterred.

Reading the Injunction Orders "intelligently and in context" would require at least that the entire orders be *read*. But the Lytle Trust does not seem to have been able to accomplish even that. Instead, they focused on one word in the May 2018 Order – "directly" – as the basis for their entire strategy to continue to attempt collection from the Respondents' properties "indirectly" through a receiver. The district court saw straight through this charade, explaining that when the entire order is read it is clear that both direct and indirect action were prohibited. The court directed "It's important to read the entire order," reiterated several of the paragraphs, and then concluded:

And then number 7, a final judgment against the Association is not an obligation or debt owed by the Plaintiffs. It seems pretty clear to me. Then you couple that with, quote: It is hereby ordered -- hereby further ordered, adjudged, and decreed that the defendants are permanently enjoined from taking any action in the future against the plaintiffs or their properties based upon the Rosemere LPA Litigation.

I don't know how I could be any clearer than that. Because remember, you can't read this in one line of the order. You have to read the total order to determine what its impact is because I made some conclusion here as a matter of law, they can't take any action.

In fact, it goes even further than that. It says the final judgment in favor of defendants is not against and is not an obligation of the plaintiffs. So maybe hypothetically if they won the lottery, maybe they could go against the Association. But they better not go against the plaintiffs in any way. I don't mind saying that.

And to be clear, permanently enjoined from taking any action in the future against the plaintiffs or their property.

7 App. 1537:9-1538:20, 1539:23-1541:3, 1546:19-1547:3.

Like in *Mack-Manley*, the district court here had to interpret how the Lytle Trust's unforeseen actions were impacted by the Injunction Orders, just as the *Mack-Manley* court had to interpret how one parent's unforeseen actions were impacted by the child custody order. Even though the custody order did not explicitly state that alleging abuse violated the order, the *Mack-Manley* court upheld the contempt finding.

Here, the district court did not abuse its discretion because the Court's Injunction Orders implicitly cover the Lytle Trust's actions. Even though the Injunction Orders did not explicitly state that the Lytle Trust could not seek the appointment of a receiver to do what they were prohibited from doing in the May 2018 Order, the May 2018 Order implicitly resolved the issue by recounting the history of the case and stating that the Lytle Trust was prevented from taking "any action" against the property owners for payment of the Rosemere Judgments. The district court's Orders were clear and unambiguous, even if the word receiver was not explicitly used.

# 2. The law of the case cannot be circumvented by the Lytle Trust's attempt to make a more focused argument.

The Lytle Trust's attempt to appoint a receiver to collect the Rosemere Judgments is a mere technical variation from the actions this Court prohibited when it upheld the Injunction Orders. The law of the case doctrine bars new legal

arguments that are not actually presented on direct appeal but that are based on "substantially the same facts" as the argument made on appeal. *See Hall v. State*, 91 Nev. 314, 315, 535 P.2d 797 (1975). "The doctrine of the law of the case cannot be avoided by a more detailed and precisely focused argument subsequently made after reflection upon the previous proceedings." *Id.*, 91 Nev. at 316, 535 P.2d at 799.

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